FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
4/6/2020 9:45 AM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

98365-8

Case No: 80092-2-I

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

Preserve Responsible Shoreline Management, Alice Tawresey,  
Robert Day, Bainbridge Shoreline Homeowners, Dick Haugan, Linda  
Young, Don Flora, John Rosling, Bainbridge Defense Fund, and  
Point Monroe Lagoon Home Owners Association, Inc.,  
Petitioners,

v.

City of Bainbridge Island, Washington State Department of Ecology,  
Environmental Land Use Hearing Office, and Growth Management  
Hearings Board Central Puget Sound Region,  
Respondents,

and

Kitsap County Association of Realtors<sup>®</sup>,

## **IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioners are Preserve Responsible Shoreline Management, Alice Tawresey, Robert Day, Bainbridge Shoreline Homeowners, Dick Haugan, Linda Young, John Rosling, Bainbridge Defense Fund, and Point Monroe Lagoon Home Owners Association, Inc. (PRSM).

## **CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION**

PRSM seeks review of the Court of Appeals' December 9, 2019, decision in *Preserve Responsible Shoreline Management, et al. v. City of Bainbridge Island, et al.*, Div. I, No. 80092-2-I, attached as App. A. The Court's March 5, 2020, Order Denying Reconsideration (App. B).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether a trial court exercises original jurisdiction over constitutional claims when they are properly filed for the first time in a petition for judicial review to the superior court.
2. Whether an individual has a right to present evidence necessary to prove a constitutional violation when that claim is filed before the first court with jurisdiction over the claims.
3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's clearly erroneous decision denying PRSM's evidentiary motion.

## INTRODUCTION

This case presents an opportunity to address a persistent and consequential conflict between three key provisions of Washington’s Administrative Procedure Act (APA), Ch. 34.05 RCW, that bears directly on an individual’s right to petition the courts for redress of harm.<sup>1</sup> On the one hand, the APA states that the superior court is the first adjudicative body with jurisdiction to hear a constitutional challenge to a local government’s Shoreline Master Program (SMP) update. RCW 34.05.570. On the other hand, the decision below construed the APA’s additional evidence provision, RCW 34.05.562(1)(b),<sup>2</sup> to restrict all testimony to public comments in the city’s legislative record, without regard to a separate APA provision that prohibits courts from considering unsworn testimony. *See* RCW 34.05.452(3). The decision below creates an untenable conflict, effectively barring an individual from ever testifying in support of a constitutional claim. *St. Joseph Stock Yards Co. v. United States*,

---

<sup>1</sup> The right of each person to petition the courts for redress of harm is one of “the most precious of the liberties safeguarded by the Bill of Rights.” *United Mine Workers v. Ill. State Bar Ass’n*, 389 U.S. 217, 222, 88 S. Ct. 353, 19 L. Ed. 2d 426 (1967). As a corollary to that right, our courts hold that due process ensures that each litigant has a right to present evidence in support of his or her claims. *State ex rel. Puget Sound Navigation Co. v. Dep’t of Trans.*, 33 Wn.2d 448, 495, 206 P.2d 456 (1949).

<sup>2</sup> “The court may receive evidence in addition to that contained in the agency record for judicial review, only if it relates to the validity of the agency action at the time it was taken and is needed to decide disputed issues regarding: (b) Unlawfulness of procedure or of decision-making process.”

298 U.S. 38, 77, 56 S. Ct. 720, 80 L. Ed. 1033 (1936) (“When dealing with constitutional rights . . . , there must be the opportunity of presenting in an appropriate proceeding, at some time, to some court, every question of law raised, whatever the nature of the right invoked or the status of him who claims it.”).

This Court has confronted this conflict only indirectly, by ruling that a similar administrative review statute cannot impair a litigant’s right to present evidence of a constitutional violation to the superior court, *James v. County of Kitsap*, 154 Wn.2d 574, 587-88, 115 P.3d 286 (2005), and by rejecting as “mistaken” the argument that the APA limits the superior court’s authority to admit such evidence, *Washington Trucking Associations v. State Employment Sec. Dep’t*, 188 Wn.2d 198, 221 n.17, 393 P.3d 761 (2017). But this Court has never squarely addressed this critical question.<sup>3</sup> The result is continued confusion, injustice, and inconsistency in the application of administrative laws and enforcement of the basic right to put on evidence.<sup>4</sup> The Court should grant the Petition to resolve these issues.

---

<sup>3</sup> See *City of Bainbridge Island*, Motion to Publish, at 4-6 (Dec. 30, 2019) (arguing that settling the questions presented is critical to landowners, attorneys, government, and the public) (attached as App. C).

<sup>4</sup> Indeed, a recent decision from Division II allowed additional evidence on judicial review of an SMP update, concluding that “[b]ecause the Board did not have the authority to review constitutional challenges and because additional facts are relevant, OSF demonstrates that its request meets the requirements of RCW 34.05.562(1).” *Olympic Stewardship Foundation v. State of Washington Environmental Hearings Office*, Case 47641-0-II at 6-7 (Apr. 11, 2016) (attached as Ex. C).



## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a facial constitutional challenge to the City of Bainbridge Island's contentious 2014 SMP update, which imposes several novel and onerous demands on shoreline property owners. AR 26-366. The most controversial demands require that, as a mandatory condition of any new permit approval, shoreline landowners must: (1) consent to warrantless searches of their land (SMP § 7.2.1 (citing BIMC 1.16)); (2) secure City approval before engaging in any "human activity" on or near the shorelines (SMP § 4.1.1.2); (3) secure City approval before designing one's landscape or garden (SMP § 4.1.2); and (4) execute a conservation easement of sufficient size to "enhance" and "restore" the marine shoreline by "mitigat[ing] the . . . indirect, and/or cumulative impacts of shoreline development, uses and activities."<sup>5</sup> AR 104 (SMP 4.1.2.7); AR 115 (SMP 4.1.3.7(2)). AR 105-06, 109 (SMP §§ 4.1.3.1, 4.1.3.2, 4.1.3.5(4)); *see also* AR 50 (SMP § 1.5) (The Program's "master goal" is to ensure "a net ecosystem improvement over time.").

---

<sup>5</sup> These mandatory conditions are unlike a typical critical area buffer in that they grant Bainbridge Island extensive physical control over the conservation easement, including a right to enter the property without notice or permission. The owner of the underlying estate may retain some passive use rights, such as the right to pass over the easement, but is barred from any additional use, or unapproved "human activity" without City approval. SMP § 4.1.3.7.

### **A. PRSM's Constitutional Challenge**

PRSM faithfully followed the procedures set forth by the Shoreline Management Act (SMA) and the APA to ripen a constitutional challenge to the City's SMP. PRSM members extensively participated in the SMP update process, providing public comments that suggested ways to avoid potential constitutional conflicts. *See, e.g.*, AR 742-44, 2510-11, 2539-40, 2567, 2767, 2821. These comments were intended to provide input on the proposed SMP, not to provide evidence of a potential constitutional violation. *Id.* After the City of Bainbridge Island (City) and Department of Ecology (Ecology) approved the SMP, PRSM timely challenged the Program by filing a petition for review with the Growth Management Hearings Board (Growth Board), asserting only statutory claims and reserving all constitutional claims for later proceedings before the superior court. AR 2-25; RCW 90.58.190; RCW 34.05.570(3)(a). Thus, the administrative review was limited to whether the SMP complied with the SMA. AR 5787-5905. The Growth Board proceedings provided no opportunity to present any evidence—let alone evidence relevant to PRSM's constitutional claims.

After the Growth Board upheld the SMP,<sup>6</sup> PRSM filed a combined complaint and petition for judicial review in Kitsap County Superior Court, alleging violations of the free expression, search and seizure, due process, and takings clauses of the Washington and U.S. Constitutions, as well as violations of the doctrine of unconstitutional conditions. CP 326-43. The complaint invoked the trial court’s original jurisdiction and sought declaratory relief as authorized by the APA. *Id.*; RCW 34.05.570(3)(a).

**B. Motion for Additional Evidence**

In advance of the hearing on the merits, PRSM moved for leave to submit evidence on four topics related to its constitutional claims: (1) expert testimony addressing acknowledged gaps in the City’s scientific record; (2) testimony demonstrating how the SMP impacts development rights and property values; (3) testimony demonstrating how the SMP impairs the expressive nature of landscape design and gardening; and (4) expert testimony and documentary evidence showing how substantial confusion among City staff and land use professionals impacts individual rights. CP 253-67.

PRSM argued that the proposed evidence could be submitted on two grounds. First, the APA authorizes the court to “receive evidence in addition

---

<sup>6</sup> See AR at 5787-5905. The Growth Board’s findings and conclusions are currently pending on the merits of PRSM’s administrative appeal below.

to that contained in the agency record” if the evidence “relates to the validity of the agency action . . . and it is needed to decide disputed issues regarding the [u]nlawfulness of . . . [the] decision-making process.” CP 255-57 (citing RCW 34.05.562(1)(b)). Second, PRSM argued that the constitutional claims were properly filed for the first time to the superior court and were subject to the trial court’s original jurisdiction, which includes the right to put on evidence. CP 257-58; CP 292-93; CP 299-301.

The trial court denied PRSM’s motion by concluding that it was acting in its “appellate” capacity in considering PRSM’s constitutional claims. CP 348-49. The court, therefore, did not address PRSM’s arguments regarding the court’s original jurisdiction and a litigant’s right to put on evidence. *Id.* Instead, the court concluded that the APA forbids additional evidence unless the moving party can show that it is necessary and not duplicative. CP 349. The court then simply adopted the governments’ claim that “that the Board below heard much of the proffered testimony” (a factual claim that PRSM disputed), despite admitting that “[t]his Court has yet to review the record below.”<sup>7</sup> CP 350. Based on that untenable conclusion, the

---

<sup>7</sup> *Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 161 Wn.2d 415, 435 n.8, 166 P.3d 1198 (2007) (On APA review, the court has a duty to independently review the record; it cannot rely on the “assurances” of government attorneys.); *Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc.*, 466 U.S. 485, 499, 104 S. Ct. 1949, 80 L. Ed. 2d 502 (1984) (The trial court has a duty to independently review the record to ensure that its decision is supported.).

court held “that supplementary testimony is not ‘needed’ in order to decide the disputed issues in this case.” CP 350.

Division II of the Court of Appeals, which had previously held that the APA allows additional evidence of constitutional violations, *supra*. n.3, granted discretionary review. But due to workload issues, the court transferred the case to Division I which affirmed the trial court, concluding that PRSM’s claims are “appellate” in nature and construing the APA to bar litigants from presenting additional evidence of a constitutional violation “on appeal” to the superior court. Decision at 8-9. Based on these rulings, the court did not address the trial court’s reasoning and did not address the merits of PRSM’s evidentiary arguments. Decision at 8-15. PRSM timely filed this petition for review.

## **REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION**

### **I**

#### **THE DECISION BELOW RAISES AN IMPORTANT QUESTION AS TO WHETHER THE APA ABROGATES AN INDIVIDUAL’S RIGHT TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF A CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION TO THE FIRST COURT WITH JURISDICTION**

Division I’s conclusion that the APA bars an individual from presenting evidence necessary to address disputed elements of a constitutional claim raises a critical issue of law. Unlike a typical constitutional plaintiff, individuals who must first exhaust administrative

remedies under the APA cannot seek direct relief in the superior court. Instead, they must raise all constitutional claims in a petition for judicial review (RCW 34.05.570(3)(a))—even where the agency “lacks the jurisdictional authority to decide claims alleging a violation of [constitutional] rights.” *Olympic Stewardship Found. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 166 Wn. App. 172, 196 n.21, 274 P.3d 1040 (2012). If the lower court is correct that a single APA provision trumps an individual’s right to present evidence in support of his/her claims before the first court with jurisdiction, then the government (which curates the contents of its legislative record) can potentially enact unconstitutional laws without consequence. This is particularly true here, where the City included a provision that requires all permit applicants to use only the City’s incomplete science—thereby shielding itself from a later, as-applied constitutional challenge. The Court should grant the Petition to address this unresolved clash, and to ensure that our citizens have a meaningful opportunity to petition the courts for redress of constitutional injuries.

**A. The Lower Court’s Interpretation of the APA Conflicts with Decisions Allowing Evidence When a Petition Raises Constitutional Claims**

Division I’s rigid interpretation of the APA conflicts with decisions of this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court interpreting similar administrative appeal statutes to allow a trial court to consider additional evidence when a

petition for judicial review raises constitutional questions. *See, e.g., Responsible Urban Growth Grp. v. City of Kent*, 123 Wn.2d 376, 384, 868 P.2d 861 (1994) (allowing evidence on judicial review of an agency decision upholding a zoning ordinance); *McNary v. Haitian Refugee Center, Inc.*, 498 U.S. 479, 493, 111 S. Ct. 888, 112 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1991) (allowing evidence pertaining to constitutional violations not subject to agency authority where Immigration Naturalization Act limits judicial review to administrative record); *Webster v. Doe*, 486 U.S. 592, 604, 108 S. Ct. 2047, 100 L. Ed. 2d 632 (1988) (holding that discovery is available on constitutional claims raised to the trial court under the federal APA).

Indeed, this Court's opinion in *Washington Trucking* concluded that Division I's interpretation of RCW 34.05.562(1) is "mistaken." 188 Wn.2d at 221 n.17. There, an industry association argued that it should be allowed to file a lawsuit directly in court raising tort and constitutional claims that are outside the administrative court's jurisdiction. *Id.* at 202. The association claimed that the APA's additional evidence provision rendered administrative review futile by barring it from later introducing evidence of a constitutional violation when the claims are properly raised on judicial review. *Id.* at 219-220, 221 n.17. This Court disagreed, holding—contrary to the decision below—that the association was "mistaken" when it argued

that an “APA appeal is limited to the agency record.” *Washington Trucking*, 188 Wn.2d at 221 n.17. This direct conflict warrants review.

The decision below also conflicts with a large body of federal case law confirming that litigants may introduce evidence of a constitutional violation when a statute requires them to raise those claims for the first time on judicial review.<sup>8</sup> *See, e.g., Quaker Action Group v. Morton*, 460 F.2d 854, 861 (D.C. Cir. 1971) (a person may not be denied the right to put on evidence of a constitutional violation where the administrative court did not provide such an opportunity); *United States v. District of Columbia*, 897 F.2d 1152, 1158 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (Review of constitutional claims under the APA “mirror[s] review under the Constitution” itself); *Rydeen v. Quigg*, 748 F. Supp. 900, 906 (D.D.C. 1990) (allowing plaintiffs to submit two affidavits not in the record); *Nat’l Medical Enterprises, Inc. v. Shalala*, 826 F. Supp. 558, 565 n.11 (D.D.C. 1993) (allowing affidavits). Division I’s failure to address this body of law also warrants review.

---

<sup>8</sup> The APA expressly states the Legislature’s intent that “courts should interpret provisions of this chapter consistently with decisions of other courts interpreting similar provisions of . . . the federal government.” RCW 34.05.001; *King Cty. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 138 Wn.2d 161,179, 979 P.2d 374 (1999) (“Where there is no Washington case law construing provisions of the Washington APA, federal precedent may serve as persuasive authority.”).



**B. The Lower Court’s Interpretation of the APA  
Deprives the Superior Court of its Original  
Jurisdiction Over Constitutional Claims**

Central to Division I’s opinion is the mistaken conclusion that the trial court acts in its “appellate capacity” when considering a constitutional claim that is filed for the first time before the first court with jurisdiction over such claims. Decision at 7-8. This error warrants review because it blurs the concepts of exhaustion and jurisdiction, *Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 178 Wn.2d 635, 647, 310 P.3d 804 (2013) (cautioning against “intertwining procedural requirements with jurisdictional principles”), and frustrates the correct application of the law. Sarah H. Ludington, *Simplifying the Standard of Review in North Carolina Administrative Appeals*, 33 J. Nat’l Ass’n Admin. L. Judiciary 585, 591 (2013) (“It is critical for the superior court to understand whether the case invokes its original or appellate jurisdiction, as the different types of jurisdiction result in different scopes of review.”).

Division I’s mistake is obvious: appellate jurisdiction, by definition, invokes the court’s power to review decisions of a lower tribunal. *Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. 137, 147, 2 L. Ed. 60 (1803). Thus, a necessary prerequisite to appellate jurisdiction is that the lower tribunal actually

decide the contested issues in an adjudicative proceeding.<sup>9</sup> “Original jurisdiction,” by contrast, means the power to entertain and resolve disputed cases in the first instance. *Burks v. Walker*, 25 Okla. 353, 109 P. 544, 545 (1909); *see also Spatz v. City of Conway*, 362 Ark. 588, 589, 210 S.W.3d 69, 70 (2005) (“Original jurisdiction means the power ‘to hear and decide a matter before any other court can review the matter.’”) (quoting *Black’s Law Dictionary* at 856 (7th ed. 1999)). Importantly, original jurisdiction includes the court’s right “to make its own determination of the issues from the evidence as submitted directly by the witnesses; or of the law as presented, uninfluenced or unconcerned or limited by any prior determination, or the action of any other court juridically determining the same controversy.” *State v. Johnson*, 100 Utah 316, 114 P.2d 1034, 1037 (1941), *disagreed with on other grounds by Boyer v. Larson*, 20 Utah 2d 121, 433 P.2d 1015 (1967); *see also Motley-Motley, Inc. v. State*, 127 Wn. App. 62, 76, 110 P.3d 812 (2005) (recognizing that a court of original jurisdiction has the right to admit new evidence).

---

<sup>9</sup> *Waste Mgmt. of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities & Transp. Comm’n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 633-34, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994); *see also Black’s Law Dictionary* at 94 (7th Ed. 1999) (Appellate jurisdiction requires “the submission of a lower court’s or agency’s decision to a higher court for review and possible reversal.”). Here, the Growth Board did not decide any constitutional questions. Without a decision, the trial court has nothing to review and no appellate authority over those claims. *Valley View Indus. Park v. City of Redmond*, 107 Wn.2d 621, 633-34, 733 P.2d 182 (1987), *abrogated on other grounds by Yim v. City of Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019).

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