FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/6/2020 9:05 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 983658

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PRESERVE RESPONSIBLE SHORELINE MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF BAINBRIDGE ISLAND, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

James E. Haney, WSBA #11058 Attorneys for Respondent City of Bainbridge Island OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, PLLC 901 5th Ave, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164 Tel: 206-447-7000/Fax: 206-447-0215

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City adopted the SMP in 2014, after holding more than 100 meetings before various City boards and commissions at which public testimony or comment was taken, including one public hearing before the Bainbridge Island Planning Commission and three public hearings before the Bainbridge Island City Council. AR 5796-98. The City also received

PRSM attached the City's motion to publish the Court of Appeals' decision, as

Appendix C to its petition. PRSM claims that the City argued that "the questions presented" were "critical." The City's motion to publish, however, focused mainly on the analytical distinction the Court of Appeals drew between the APA and the Land Use Petition Act—an issue not raised in PRSM's petition—and did not even address most of the questions PRSM presents here. *See* Pet. at App. C. PRSM also omits that the Court of Appeals denied the City's motion.

and responded to more than 2000 written comments, at least 363 of which came from PRSM, its attorneys, or the named individual petitioners in this lawsuit. AR 5801. The Washington State Department of Ecology ("Ecology") also conducted an extensive public process before approving the SMP. Ecology conducted one public hearing attended by 200 people and received and considered 112 oral or written comments, before deciding to approve the City's SMP. AR 475-91, 5797.

PRSM submitted substantial evidence directed at the SMP's underlying science. Indeed, it offered at least seventeen "white papers" totaling more than 225 pages by one of its members, Dr. Don Flora, in which Dr. Flora wrote extensively on the science behind the City's shoreline buffers, including Dr. Flora's claim that the buffers were inappropriately based on freshwater science rather than marine science. *See*, *e.g.*, AR 2237-88, 2322-31, 2336-92, 2404-08, 2418, 2420-23, 3532-90, 3597-639. PRSM also submitted several multipage letters, emails, and papers from Linda Young, including a 98-page letter in which Ms. Young argued, among other things, that the SMP was an unconstitutional taking of property on its face and violated her First Amendment right to express herself through gardening. AR 681-779. Many other people, including several of the named petitioners in this litigation, also submitted comments to Ecology

alleging that the SMP's shoreline buffers were an unconstitutional taking of property, and Ecology responded with citation to studies showing that riparian buffers do not devalue property. AR 5508-09.

PRSM appealed the City's adoption of the SMP to the Board. On April 6, 2015, the Board issued a 119-page decision upholding the SMP and dismissing PRSM's appeal. AR 5787-905. The Board addressed 52 legal issues and 39 sub-issues raised by PRSM, holding that PRSM failed to meet its burden of proof on each. *Id.* The decision included a 16-page analysis of the applicable science in the record relating to shoreline buffers, including review of more than 25 scientific exhibits and studies and at least thirteen of the seventeen white papers authored by Dr. Flora and submitted by PRSM. AR 5816-31. The Board concluded that "the City assembled current science, indicated data gaps and uncertainties, and provided objective, reasonable consideration of opposing views" and thereby complied with the Shoreline Management Act in basing its shoreline buffers on appropriate scientific information. AR 5831.

PRSM sought review of the Board's decision by the Kitsap County Superior Court. PRSM originally sought review under both the APA and the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ("UDJA"), Chapter 7.24 RCW. CP 1-165. The trial court dismissed the UDJA claims, ruling that the APA

provides the exclusive means for review of the Board's actions under RCW 36.70A.300(5) and RCW 34.05.510. CP 247. PRSM did not appeal that decision.

In August 2017, PRSM moved to supplement the record. CP 253-67. The proffered evidence consisted of: (a) testimony, from people claiming to have scientific backgrounds, about the perils of applying freshwater science to marine shorelines; (b) testimony from landowners about the impact of the SMP on their property values and free expression; and (c) evidence that some people found portions of the SMP difficult to understand. Pet. at 6.

The City and Ecology opposed PRSM's motion to supplement. For each piece of proffered evidence, Ecology and the City explained why additional evidence was not "needed," under RCW 34.05.562(1). *See* CP 274-77, 284-87. They pointed out, for example, that the Board had thoroughly analyzed the science in the record and had determined that the SMP buffers were not inappropriately based on freshwater science, as PRSM was offering testimony to dispute. CP 274; CP 284. The trial court denied PRSM's motion. CP 347-52.

After an unsuccessful motion for reconsideration, PRSM moved the Court of Appeals for discretionary review. The Court of Appeals accepted

review, affirmed the trial court's ruling in its entirety, and denied PRSM's motion for reconsideration. This petition followed.

C. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED</u>

A petition for discretionary review will be denied unless the petitioner shows that its case satisfies one of four exclusive conditions:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). PRSM fails to show that any of these conditions warrants review here.

1. PRSM fails to demonstrate a conflict of authority.

PRSM purports to identify two conflicts: (a) with authority holding that trial courts can take additional evidence relating to constitutional claims on judicial review of administrative decisions; and (b) with authority providing that trial courts have original jurisdiction over constitutional claims. Both alleged conflicts are illusory.

a. The Court of Appeals held that additional evidence may be admitted if needed for the disposition of a constitutional claim.

PRSM begins its first argument by alleging that the Court of Appeals concluded "that the APA bars an individual from presenting evidence necessary to address disputed elements of a constitutional claim...." Pet. at 8. PRSM then cites four cases from this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court for the proposition that a trial court can, under certain circumstances, take additional evidence to support constitutional claims raised on judicial review of an administrative decision. *Id.* at 10. PRSM's allegations of a conflict do not hold up to scrutiny.

The primary flaw in PRSM's argument is that the Court of Appeals simply did not say that the APA bans new evidence. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals specifically recognized that the APA allows new evidence, under RCW 34.05.562(1), if "needed" to decide certain types of disputed issues. Op. at 8. The Court then pointed to one subsection, RCW 34.05.562(1)(c), and acknowledged that it would allow new evidence that is needed to decide a constitutional claim. Op. at 10. The Court then analyzed each piece of proffered new evidence and affirmed the trial court's finding that it was not needed under RCW 34.05.562(1)(c). Op. at 10-15.

Of the cases posited by PRSM as supposedly conflicting with this portion of the Court of Appeals decision, the only one that involved the APA is Washington Trucking Associations v. State Employment Sec. Dep't, 188 Wn.2d 198, 393 P.3d 761 (2017). The respondents there were trucking carriers that had been assessed unemployment taxes. Washington Trucking, 188 Wn.2d at 204. While maintaining administrative appeals, they brought a separate lawsuit against the State for irregularities in the auditing process. *Id.* at 205. They argued that they lacked an adequate remedy under the APA because evidence about the auditing process had been excluded in the administrative proceedings, and judicial review was limited to the record. *Id.* at 221 n. 17. This Court explained in a footnote that this argument was mistaken because the trial court, in an APA appeal, could admit new evidence that meets the standards under RCW 34.05.562(1). Id. The Court of Appeals' holding here—that PRSM could submit new evidence if needed under RCW 34.05.562(1)—is entirely consistent with that holding.

b. There is no conflict in the Court of Appeals' holding that the trial court acts in its appellate capacity.

PRSM purports to identify a second conflict in the Court of Appeals' holding that a trial court applying APA judicial review acts in its appellate capacity. Pet. at 12-14. According to PRSM, that holding conflicts with

various authorities providing that the trial court has original jurisdiction over constitutional claims. Again, the conflict is imaginary.

The substantive challenge in PRSM's argument is to the use of RCW 34.05.562 in deciding whether to admit new evidence. In other words, in PRSM's view, if the trial court exercises its original jurisdiction, then the APA's procedural requirements do not apply and there are no evidentiary restrictions. PRSM then touts this Court's caution "against 'intertwining procedural requirements with jurisdictional principles." Pet. at 12 (quoting *Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 178 Wn.2d 635, 647, 310 P.3d 804 (2013)).

But it is PRSM's argument—not the Court of Appeals' holding—that would blur the distinction which this Court clarified in *Cost Mgmt*. There, a taxpayer requested a tax refund from the city of Lakewood. When Lakewood failed to grant or deny the request, the taxpayer sued in superior court. *Cost Mgmt*., 178 Wn.2d at 638. The Court of Appeals held that Lakewood's failure to respond to the request rendered its administrative remedy inadequate, thereby allowing the taxpayer to forgo the exhaustion requirement and invoke the courts' original jurisdiction. *Id*. at 645 (citing *Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 170 Wn. App. 260, 274, 284 P.3d 785 (2012)). The Court of Appeals went on to say that because the

courts have "concurrent original jurisdiction" over tax-refund claims, the taxpayer could "refer its claim to either the hearing examiner or superior court." *Id.* at 645 (quoting *Cost Mgmt.*, 170 Wn. App. at 274).

On further review, this Court explained that the latter statement by the Court of Appeals was potentially confusing. *Id.* It took the opportunity to clarify that the courts' original jurisdiction does not give litigants free rein to forgo administrative procedures. *Id.* at 646. The taxpayer was exempt from the exhaustion requirement only because the administrative remedy was inadequate—*not* merely because the superior court had concurrent original jurisdiction. *Id.* at 645-46. This Court's message in *Cost Mgmt.* was thus that the courts' original jurisdiction over claims does not obviate the need to comply with legislatively mandated procedural requirements. It does, however, give the courts flexibility to hear claims if those procedures have rendered the administrative remedy inadequate.

Here, PRSM has not shown that the APA's evidentiary limitations leave it without an adequate remedy for alleged constitutional violations. Indeed, in a footnote cited by PRSM, this Court explicitly rejected that argument as "mistaken." *See Washington Trucking*, 188 Wn.2d at 221 n. 17. In short, PRSM's inherent assumption—that the trial court's original jurisdiction over constitutional claims means the APA's procedural

requirements do not apply—promotes the very intertwining of "procedural requirements with jurisdictional principles" that this Court cautioned against. *Cost Mgmt.*, 178 Wn.2d at 647.

The Legislature explicitly provided that a party can raise constitutional challenges on judicial review under the APA. *See* RCW 34.05.570 (3)(a). And this Court has already endorsed RCW 34.05.562(1)—the statute applied by the lower courts here—as the procedural mechanism for introducing additional evidence in support of such a claim. *Washington Trucking*, 188 Wn.2d at 221 n. 17. The Court of Appeals' analysis was thus correct, and PRSM's arguments do not warrant review.

2. <u>Statutes and case law regarding adjudicative proceedings are inapposite.</u>

PRSM next claims that the Court of Appeals created a "legal impossibility" that raises a question of broad public importance. Pet. At 15-16. But that impossibility, like the supposed conflicts with case law discussed above, is a fabrication.

PRSM's argument hinges on its claim that "the APA expressly prohibits courts from considering unsworn testimony." Pet. at 15 (citing RCW 34.05.452 (3)). PRSM then claims that the Court of Appeals "construed the APA to bar additional evidence," thereby confining the

evidence to unsworn public comments. *Id*. Thus, according to PRSM, a party that complies with the APA will be prohibited from presenting any evidence of a constitutional violation. *Id*. That is simply not true.

Again, as discussed above, the Court of Appeals did not hold that the APA bars additional evidence. It merely held, under the specific facts of this case, that PRSM did not satisfy the APA's requirements for supplementing the record under RCW 34.05.562.

PRSM's other fundamental premise—that RCW 34.05.452(3) expressly prohibits courts from considering unsworn testimony—is also wrong. The cited statute appears in Part IV of the APA, which encompasses sections .410 through .494 and governs agencies' internal adjudicative proceedings.

The cited statute does *not* appear in Part V (sections .510 through .598), which governs judicial review. It says nothing about what a court can or cannot consider on judicial review. Further RCW 34.05.452 expressly does not apply to the underlying procedure at issue here: agency rulemaking. *See* RCW 34.05.410(2). It is thus irrelevant to this proceeding.

PRSM does not cite a single case, from anywhere in the country, holding that a court cannot consider unsworn public comments when reviewing agency rulemaking or that such a procedure violates due process.

Rather, PRSM cites three cases that discussed the presentation of evidence in an agency's adjudicative proceeding. See W. Washington Operating Engineers Apprenticeship Comm. v. Washington State Apprenticeship & Training Council, 144 Wn. App. 145, 161, 190 P.3d 506 (2008) (in adjudicating a private organization's request for approval of an apprenticeship program, state agency violated RCW 34.05.452 (3) by asking factual questions of the representative's attorney without placing him under oath).² Indeed, this Court has recognized that the rulemaking record is the proper record for legal challenges under the APA. See Washington Indep. Tel. Ass'n v. Washington Utilities & Transp. Comm'n, 148 Wn.2d 887, 906, 64 P.3d 606, 616 (2003) ("agency must keep a rulemaking file, which serves as the record for review"). PRSM thus fails to show that its due-process argument warrants this Court's review.³

_

of Record. See AR 503, 1989, 2047.

² See also Kremer v. Chem. Const. Corp., 456 U.S. 461, 480-81, 102 S. Ct. 1883, 72 L. Ed. 2d 262 (1982) (federal district court must give preclusive effect, in Title VII employment-discrimination claim, to a decision by a state agency affirmed on appeal by state courts, if basic requirements of due process are followed); Ralpho v. Bell, 569 F.2d 607, 628 (D.C. Cir. 1977) (in adjudicating an individual's claim for compensation under the Micronesian Claims Act, federal agency violated due process by relying on a valuation study that was not made available to the claimant before the hearing).

³ In a footnote, PRSM claims that the "City did not preserve most of the public comments in the record." Pet. at 16 n. 10. That allegation is false. The City submitted all written comments to the Board as part of the record. See, e.g., AR 681-779. The City also made audio recordings of all meetings in which public comments were given orally. As required by WAC 242-03-510(2), the City identified these recordings, which were available for transcription by any party that wished to have them transcribed, in the Index

3. <u>PRSM's disagreement with the trial court's discretionary evidentiary rulings does not merit review.</u>

Finally, PRSM raises four criticisms of the evidentiary ruling that PRSM did not meet the standards required to supplement the record under RCW 34.05.562. PRSM tries to shoehorn this discretionary ruling into a ground for review by claiming that the Court of Appeals' decision "conflicts with precedents." Pet. at 17. PRSM's disagreement with the Court of Appeals' analysis, however, does not merit this Court's review.

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